Issues Presented for Review 

No. 1. When the Worker Compensation Act. Title 51. specifically 

RCW 51.32.060, providing for permanent total disability, or a pension, was 

amended in 1986 to add a new paragraph (6) as follows: 

In the case of new or reopened claims, if the supervisor of 
industrial insurance determines that, at the time of filing or 
reopening, the worker is voluntarily retired and is no longer 
attached to the workforce. benefits shall not be paid under this 
section. See Appendix 8 

and at the name time RCW 51.32.090, providing for temporary total disability, 

or time loss benefits, was amended to add a new paragraph (8) as follows: 

If the supervisor of industrial insurance determines the 
worker is voluntarily retired and no longer attached to the 
workforce, benefits will not be paid under this section. See 
Appendix C 

Did the legislative distinguish between workers who were involuntarily retired 

from the workforce, verses those who were voluntarily retired from the 

workforce? 

In the same year Washington Administrative Code 296-14-100 was 

enacted distinguishing workers who were involuntarily retired from the 

workforce, as supposed to those who were voluntarily retired from the 

workforce, as follows: 
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The claimants of new or reopened claims will not be 
deemed voluntarily retired if the injury or occupational disease 
was a proximate cause of the decision to retire and sever the 
attachment to the workforce. See Appendix D 

No. 2. If the injury or occupational disease is found by a trier of fact to 

be a proximate cause ofthe worker's retirement and his retirement involuntary, 

should benefits be paid under these sections? 

No. 3. If an involuntarily retired worker is no longer attached to the 

workforce, does that preclude him from receiving time loss and pension 

benefits, or are there circumstances under which an injured worker may receive 

these benefits on a reopened claim for aggravation? 

No. 4. Are there questions of fact still to be resolved by a jury to 

determine whether a worker who meets these qualifications can receive benefits 

other than treatment? 

Statement of the Case 

Robert Giger, born April 20, 1936, commenced working for the 

Department of Corrections, State of Washington, on August 17, 1957. In 1959, 

Mr. Giger was working as a correction office at the state penitentiary in Walla 

Walla, when he was assaulted by an inmate and suffered a low back injury. He 
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filed a worker compensation claim, and in January 1960, underwent a 

laminectomy and fusion at L5-S I. He then returned to work for the Department 

of Corrections in January 1961. The first year or two after the injury his low 

back bothered him periodically, but as time went on his condition improved. 

(Certified Appeal Board Record, R. Giger- November 5, 2010, Direct, page 8, 

line 23; page 9, lines 14. 16, 20 and 26; page I 0, lines 8, 10 and 18; and Cross, 

page 69, lines 3. 5 and 9). 

Then on July I, 1978, Mr. Uiger was transferred to Larch Corrections 

Center, a minimum security facility in Clark County, Washington, as 

Superintendent. On Christmas Eve, 1985, Mr. Giger received a call at home 

that two inmates had escaped from the Correction Center. Mr. Giger drove to a 

remote location in Clark County, where the inmates were likely to head, to set 

up a post. As he stepped from his service vehicle, he slipped on compacted 

snow and ice, twisted his back, and fell to the ground. Mr. Giger was off work 

for four to six weeks, went back to work full time, continued to have problems 

with his low back, and last worked in late April 1987. (CABR, R. Giger

Direct, page 9, lines 6, 8, 10 and 12; page 15, line 26; page 16, line 3; and page 

18, line 14). 

On March 1, 1988, Mr. Giger had a second low back surgery, consisting 

of a Steffee plate fusion at L4-5 with pedicle screws. Mr. Giger could not 

continue working at the Department of Corrections with his low back condition. 
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and retired on April I, 1988, with over 30 years of service. At the time of his 

retirement, Mr. Giger also suffered from high blood pressure, or hypertension, 

which had been first diagnosed in 1984. Prior to December 24. 1985. 

Mr. Giger's hypertension was controlled by medication. but, after the injury 

with the pain he was experiencing, his blood pressure skyrocketed. Mr. Giger 

had also been diagnosed with angina. and the stress of the industrial injury and 

managing his pain aggravated his angina. (CABR, R. Giger- Direct, page 17. 

lines 5, 8, 19,23 and 25; page 18, lines 14, 17 and 24; page 19.Iine 14, page 21, 

line 7; page 22, lines 14. 16 and 18; page 23, lines 17 and 19; and page 24. 

line 5). 

After Mr. Giger retired from the Department of Corrections, the 

Department of Labor and Industries assigned a vocational counselor. Connie 

Stewart, who at the time was employed by the Department, to determine 

whether Mr. Giger was employable. Ms. Stewart knew that Mr. Giger had 

retired on April I, 1988, and learned that there were no jobs available to 

Mr. Giger at the Department of Corrections. Ms. Stewart learned that Mr. Giger 

wanted to pursue a career in real estate to supplement his retirement income, 

which was $2,800 per month. As of January 4, 1989. Ms. Stewart was also 

aware that Mr. Giger's hypertension prevented him from returning to a high 

stress or pressure job. Ms. Stewart found that Mr. Giger had transferable skills 

to do other work and be gainfully employed should he choose to do that. 
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(CABR, Stewart - January I 0, 201 I, Direct page 4, line 24: page 6, line 20: 

page 8, line 14: page 16, line 25: page 17. line 21: page 20. line 12: and Cross 

page 28, line 18. page 32, line 12). 

Though the Department of Labor and Industries knew that Mr. Giger 

had retired on April 1, 1988, they continued to pay him time loss benefits as a 

temporarily totally disabled worker through October 15, 1990. When the 

Department of Labor and Industries then closed his claim on November 8, 1990, 

and found Mr. Giger able to work, Mr. Giger appealed to the Board of Industrial 

Insurance Appeals, and then to Superior Court for Clark County. The appeal to 

Superior Court was decided by jury verdict against Mr. Giger. and on 

September 4. 1992. the Court affirmed the decision of the Board. (CABR. 

Page 90). 

Then on November 12, 1992, Mr. Giger was involved in a motor 

vehicle accident, when his car was struck from the rear by a drunk driver while 

stopped for a traffic light. Mr. Giger received a compression fracture to his neck 

and treated with Dr. Bruce Bell, a neurologist, in Vancouver, Washington. 

Again on February 9, 1993, Mr. Giger's vehicle was struck from the rear by 

another vehicle when traffic slowed on a freeway on-ramp. The impact 

aggravated Mr. Giger's compression fracture and he continued treatment with 

Dr. Bell. (CABR, pages 89-90; R. Giger - Direct, page 28, line 15; page 29, 

lines 3, 7 and 14; and page 30, line 12). 
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As indicated in the Motion for Reconsideration of the unpublished 

opinion, the Court of Appeals stated that the motor vehicle accidents in 1992 

and 1993 was the reason the Department of Labor and Industries reopened his 

claim. See the unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals, Division II, Facts, 

page 2, paragraph 3. An aggravation is a natural progression of a preexisting 

condition caused by an industrial injury as opposed to a new injury. McDougal 

v. Dept. of Labor and Indus.. 64 Wn. 2d640, 393 P.2d 631 (1964). The 

significance of the motor vehicle accidents in 1992 and 1993 was to show why 

Mr. Giger could not have attempted to return to the workforce up until his 

industrial injury related condition became aggravated as of December I, 1993. 

On December 8, 1993, Dr. Bell saw Mr. Giger back. He had been 

improving from the injuries he received in the motor vehicle accidents, and 

about a week prior to the visit he had an aggravation of his low back condition 

from the industrial injury of December 24, 1985. His low back had locked up, 

and he had hardly any movement in his back. He had pain running down both 

legs. On physical examination, Dr. Bell found a significant amount of spasm in 

his low back, severe scoliosis bending to the left, and a positive straight leg raise 

of 10 degrees bilaterally. Dr. Bell saw him back on December 29. 1993, and 

January 12, 1994. and Mr. Giger's low back symptoms were getting worse. On 

February 9, 1994. when Dr. Bell saw Mr. Giger again. an application to reopen 

his claim for aggravation was completed. and the reopening application was 
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received by the Department of Labor and Industries on February 14, 1994. 

(CABR, Dr. Bell -November 30, 20 I 0, Direct, page 63, lines I 0, 12. 16, 23 and 

25; page 64, lines 14 and 16; page 65. lines 21 and 23; and page 67, lines 12 

and 17). 

On January 25, 1995. Mr. Giger's claim was reopened by the 

Department of Labor and Industries for medical treatment only on the basis that 

the aggravation application was not received within seven years of initial claim 

closure. That issue was eventually decided in Superior Court for Clark County 

by summary judgment on June 26, 2009. favorable to Mr. Giger. after a long 

and protracted series of protests and appeals, and he could receive benefits other 

than treatment effective February 14, 1994. (CABR, pages 90-94 ). 

While the claim was reopened tor treatment. Mr. Giger had the Stetfee 

plates and pedicle screws removed by Dr. Michael Markham, a neurosurgeon, 

on March 17, 1995. The Steffee plates that had been used in the fusion at L4-5 

on March I, 1988, had come apart, and x-rays showed that a nut on one of the 

pedicle screws did not have a lock nut on it. The nut had come off a pedicle 

screw causing the Steffee plate to move up and down. Mr. Giger then had 

improvement for six months before his condition worsened again, and 

Dr. Markham had x-rays taken that determined that the fusion itself had come 

apart. Mr. Giger then saw Dr. Timothy Keenan, a spine surgeon, who on 

November 5, 1997, refused the L4-5 level and extended the rods to L3-4. 
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resulting now in a three level fusion. Following the third fusion, Mr. Giger has 

had a slow and difficult recovery, and has had 40-50 epidural steroid injections 

over the years. (CABR, R. Giger- Direct, page 32, line I; page 34, lines 8, I 0, 

12 and 18; page 36. lines 7 and 21; page 37. line I; and page 38, line 2). 

Timothy Keenan, MD. a Board certified orthopedist with a fellowship in 

spine surgery. reviewed the operative report of Michael Markham. MD, dated 

March 17, 1995. Dr. Markham was now deceased. Reviewing the CT scan of 

November 20, 1996, Dr. Keenan found that the facet joints were overgrown and 

not completely fused. The condition is called psuedoarthritis, and was related to 

the 1988 surgery not healing completely. (CABR, Dr. Keenan - November 16, 

2010. Direct, page 5, line 17: page 7, line I 0; page II, line I 0; page 13, lines 4, 

9, 13 and 15; page 14, line 9; page 15, line 3; and page 16, line 6). 

All of the doctors who testified on behalf of Mr. Giger, Bruce Bell, MD, 

John Kauser, MD, Timothy Keenan, MD, and Maury Hafermann, MD, 

established that Mr. Giger was temporarily totally disabled as proximately 

caused by the industrial injury of December 24, 1985, from February 14, 1994. 

through June 9, 20 I 0. Their testimony also established that at least by 

June 25, 20 I 0, Mr. Giger was permanently totally disabled. (CABR, Dr. Bell -

November 30, 20 I 0, Direct, page 77, lines 12 and 16; and page 78, line 7: 

Dr. Kaiser- November 30, 2010, Direct, page 35, line 16; and page 36, line 23; 

Dr. Keenan- November 16, 2010, Direct, page 29, line 9; and Dr. Haferrnann-
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November 5, 2010, Direct page 122, lines 15 and 19; and page 123, line 8). 

What is in dispute is, since Mr. Giger did not attempt to return to work after he 

was found employable as of November 8, 1990, whether he should be denied 

time loss and pension benefits on his reopening application. 

Mr. Giger appealed to the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals the 

order of the Department of Labor and Industries dated June 25, 2010, affirming 

the orders dated June 8, 2010, and June 9, 2010. The June 8, 2010, Department 

order denied time loss benefits from February 14, 1994, through June 4. 2010. 

on the basis that he voluntarily retired from employment on April I, 1988. The 

June 9, 20 I 0. Department order closed the claim for treatment without awarding 

pension benefits. (CABR. pages 77-79 and page 95). 

Mr. Giger's appeal to the Board proceeded to a full evidentiary hearing 

before an Industrial Appeals Judge. The issue presented for hearing was 

whether the December 24. 1985, industrial injury was a proximate cause of 

Mr. Giger's retirement from the Department of Corrections on April I, 1988. 

On September 19, 20 II, the Industrial Appeals Judge issued his 34 page 

Proposed Decision and Order deciding the issue favorable to Mr. Giger. The 

Proposed Decision and Order awarded temporary total disability from 

February 14, 1994, and permanent total disability as of June 25. 2010. (CABR. 

pages 41-74). 
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The Department of Labor and Industries then petitioned for review to 

the Board and Mr. Giger responded. (CABR. pages 41-74). On 

January 30, 2012. two of the three Board members, the third not participating, 

reversed the Industrial Appeals Judge. The Decision and Order of the Board 

determined that since Mr. Giger had not attempted to return to work following 

the order of November 8, 1990. that he could not recover further time loss or 

pension benefits. Since he had not attempted to return to work before filing his 

reopening application on February 14. 1994, he was foreclosed from further 

benefits. (CABR, pages 2-35). 

Mr. Giger then appealed the Board's Decision and Order to Superior 

Court for Clark County. The Department filed a Motion for Summary 

Judgment to which Mr. Giger responded. The motion was argued to the Court 

on September 14, 2012. Robert Giger died on December 4. 2012, and on 

January 15, 2013, an order was entered substituting Carolyn Giger as the 

plaintiff in the action. On January 23, 2013. an Order, Judgment and Decree 

was entered granting summary judgment for the Department affirming the 

Board's decision. On February 7, 2013. Ms. Giger filed her appeal to the Court 

of Appeals, Division II. (Clerk's Papers Nos. 2, 20,38 and 61). 

On September 3, 2014, the Court of Appeals. Division II. filed its 

unpublished opinion concluding that the superior court did not error in granting 

summary judgment. and that Robert Giger had voluntarily retired as a matter of 
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law prior to the aggravation of his industrial injury and was not entitled to time 

loss benefits or a pension, which the court termed wage replacement benefits. 

Carolyn Giger then tiled a Motion for Reconsideration on September 16, 2014, 

which was denied on October 24. 2014. See Appendix E and F. Ms. Giger 

maintains that her husband did not voluntarily retire from the Department of 

Corrections, and that as the result of the treatment he had for the industrial 

injury, ie the Steffee Plate Fusion came apart and had to be refused, prevented 

him for attempting to return to the work force. 

Argument 

A. Summary Judgment 

Kaiser Aluminum v. Overdorf, 57 Wn. App. 291, 295, 788 P.2d8 ( 1990), 

and Weyerhaeuser Co. v. Farr, 70 Wn. App. 759, 763, 885 P.2d 711 ( 1993), 

held that the law of voluntary retirement was essentially the same prior to the 

enactment ofRCW 51.32.060 (6) and RCW 51.32.090 (8). If an injured worker 

has previously voluntarily retired from the workforce prior to the aggravation of 

an industrial injury or occupational disease, he or she is not entitled to temporary 

total disability or permanent total disability. Ms. Giger does not disagree, but 

the issue remains whether Mr. Giger voluntarily retired from the workforce, or 

did he retire as a proximate cause of the industrial injury, which is a question of 

fact. 
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There is no mention of wage replacement benefits under 

RCW 51.32.060, permanent total disability (pension), and 51.32.090, temporary 

total disability (time loss benefits). The term wage replacement benefits was 

derived from Kaiser Aluminum v. Overdorf. 57 Wn. App. 291, 788 P.2d 8 

( 1990), relying on RCW 51.12.01 0, Declaration of Policy, which provides: 

This title shall be liberally construed for the purpose 
of reducing to a minimum the suffering and economic loss 
arising from injuries and/or death occurring in the course of 
employment. See Appendix A 

This is probably the first time that the liberal construction of the Industrial 

Insurance Act in favor of the injured worker has been construed against the 

injured worker. The stated purpose of reducing to a minimum the suffering and 

economic loss should not be construed as wage replacement. Time loss or 

pension benefits pursuant to RCW 51.32.060 and RCW 51.32.090 only provide 

for payment of a base rate of 60% of the injured workers gross wage at time of 

InJUry. 

In Kaiser Aluminum v. Overdorf, 57 Wn. App. 291, 293 788 P.2d 8 

(1990), Kaiser Aluminum contended on appeal that the superior court erred in 

determining that time loss benefits were payable given Mr. Overdorfs 

collection of retirement benefits during the same period. There. the court 

concluded that the allowance of time loss benefits under the present factual 

situation to be contrary to legislative intent, construing the intent of the statute 

against the injured worker despite RCW 51.12.010. Overdorf, 57 Wn. App. at 
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297. Then, Weyerhauser Co. v. Farr. 70 Wn. App. 759, 855 P.2d 711 (1993) 

essentially followed suit and decided that Overdorf applied to pension benefits, 

as well as time loss benefits. 

RCW 51.32.060, Pennanent Total Disability, was amended in 1986, and 

a new paragraph (6) added, which provides that on new or reopened claims, if at 

the time of filing or reopening, the worker is voluntarily retired and no longer 

attached to the workforce, benefits shall not be paid under this section. The 

same law would apply under RCW 51.32.090 (8), Temporary Total Disability, 

also a new paragraph. In 1986, WAC 296-14-100 became law, which was 

amended in 1999, to restate, but not change the meaning. Under paragraph (I), 

a worker is considered voluntarily retired when (a) not receiving income, salary 

or wages from gainful employment, and (b) there has not been a bonafide 

attempt to return to work after retirement. But, pursuant to paragraph (2), a 

worker is not voluntarily retired when the industrial injury is a proximate cause 

of the retirement. Paragraph (2) qualifies and limits the effect of paragraph (1 ). 

See Appendices A through E. 

Since the changes in the statute apply to reopened claims, as well as new 

claims, RCW 51.32.060 (6), RCW 51.32.090 (8), and WAC 296-14-100 apply 

here, and it does not matter what the law was as of the date of injury on 

December 24, 1985. When interpreting statutes, the court begins their review 

with the statutory language itself. If the statute's meaning is plain on its face, 

the court applies that meaning. Only if the provision remains susceptible to 
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more than one reasonable interpretation, does the court employ tools of statutory 

construction to discern its meaning. When interpreting the Industrial Insurance 

Act, all doubts are resolved in favor of the injured worker. Glacier NW Inc., v. 

Walker, 151 Wn. App. 389, 212 P.3d 587 (2009). 

In Energy NW v. Har(je, 148 Wn. App. 454, 468, 199 P.3d 1043 

(2009), Ms. Hartje argued that she was not voluntarily retired because she was 

not able to return to the workforce due to her industrial injury. Division lll at 

page 469 held that Ms. Hartje must show that her retirement would not have 

resulted if her industrial injury had not occurred, and she failed to do so. But 

then in the next paragraph, Division Ill states that because it was determined that 

Ms. Hartje was capable of gainful employment when her case was previously 

closed, her industrial injury was not a proximate cause of her failure to return to 

the workforce. This is what Division lll calls the law of the case doctrine, that is 

somehow different than res judicata, which was earlier denied application. 

Essentially, the law of the case doctrine is the same as res judicata. 

White v. Dept. of Labor & Indus., 48 Wn.2d 413, 414, 293 P.2d 764 (1956). 

known as the Jesse White decision, holds that an order of the Department of 

Labor and Industries closing the claim of an injured worker is resjudicata as to 

the extent of the injury at that time, but is not res judicata as to a subsequent 

period of aggravation. Jesse White has been applied to significant decisions of 

the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals. In re Leona McClenaghan, BllA 

Dec., 24, 922 (1967). In re Mary Burbank, BIIA Dec., 30, 673 (1969), and

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