RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Jan 23, 2015, 12:05 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

NO. 91049-9

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CAROLYN A. GIGER, PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF ROBERT E. GIGER, DECEASED,

Petitioner,

V.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES,

Respondent.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

KATY J. DIXON Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 43469 Office Id. No. 91018 800 Fifth Ave., Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 389-2770

II.	ISSUE						
III.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE						
	A.	The Department Closed Mr. Giger's Claim in 1990 With a Finding That He Could Work	2				
	В.	Mr. Giger Never Sought Employment After His Claim Was Closed	3				
IV.	REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED						
	A.	Giger States No Ground Under RAP 13.4(b) for Review and None Exists	6				
	B.	Consistent With Farr, Overdorff, and Hartje, the Court of Appeals Correctly Held That Giger Was Retired as a Matter of Law When He Was Found Able to Work, but Made No Effort To Return to the Work Force					
	C.	C. Giger's Arguments That a Material Issue of Fact Exists Have No Merit					
		Giger Is Ineligible for Benefits When He Withdrew From the Workforce and Did Not Return, Irrespective of Any Subsequent Worsening of His Condition	11				
		2. The Department, Board, and Superior Court Found Giger Able To Work By Closing His Claim With a Finding of Permanent <i>Partial</i> Disability	13				
V	CONCLUSION						

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wn.2d 801, 828 P.2d 549 (1992)							
Dep't of Labor & Indus. v. Shirley, 171 Wn. App. 870, 288 P.3d 390 (2012)							
Energy Nw. v. Hartje, 148 Wn. App. 454, 199 P.3d 1043 (2009)passim							
Giger v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., No. 44508-5-II (Sept. 3, 2014)							
Kaiser Aluminum Chem. Corp. v. Overdorff, 57 Wn. App 291, 788 P.2d 8 (1990)							
Weyerhaeuser Co. v. Farr, 70 Wn. App. 759, 855 P.2d 711 (1993)passim							
White v. Department of Labor & Industries, 48 Wn.2d 413, 293 P.2d 764 (1956)							
Williams v. Virginia Mason Med. Ctr., 75 Wn. App. 582, 880 P.2d 539 (1994)							
<u>Statutes</u>							
Laws of 1986, ch. 59, §3							
RCW 51.32.060							
RCW 51.32.060(6)							
RCW 51.32.090 6							
RCW 51.32.090(8)							
RCW 51.32.090(10)							

Rules

RAP	13.4	 •••••				
					, , , ,	
RAP	13.4(b)	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	<i>6</i>	

I. INTRODUCTION

A final superior court order found Robert Giger able to work in 1990, but instead of returning to work, he bought an RV and spent his time traveling between Arizona and Washington. When the Department of Labor and Industries or a court finds a worker able to work, but he or she chooses to leave the work force without attempting to find a job, the worker has voluntarily retired. Under case law and RCW 51.32.060(6) and .090(8), such a worker cannot receive wage replacement benefits. Applying these well-settled principles to the facts of this case, the Court of Appeals affirmed the superior court decision finding that Mr. Giger voluntarily retired. Carolyn Giger, Mr. Giger's personal representative, does not argue any basis under RAP 13.4 as to why this Court should accept review of this decision. Instead she reargues that there were material issues of fact. Pet. at 11. But this does not present a reason for review, nor do any of her arguments present a reason to overturn the Court of Appeals decision that because Mr. Giger made no attempt to find work after he was found able to work, he was voluntarily retired.

II. ISSUE

Is Giger precluded from receiving wage replacement benefits when no genuine material issue of fact exists that he was voluntarily retired, because he was found able to work, yet made no subsequent effort to return to the workforce?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Department Closed Mr. Giger's Claim in 1990 With a Finding That He Could Work

Mr. Giger was employed by the Washington State Department of Corrections as the superintendent of the Larch Corrections Center. BR Giger 11. Mr. Giger slipped on snow and ice and fell in December of 1985. BR Giger 11-14. He experienced pain in his back and left hip and sought medical treatment within a few days of the incident. BR Giger 14. He applied for benefits under the Industrial Insurance Act and his claim was allowed. BR 88. In March 1988, he stopped working for the Department of Corrections, after accruing 30 years of state service. BR Giger 18.

After Mr. Giger stopped working at the Department of Corrections, he continued to receive treatment for his back. BR Berselli 14-16. Mr. Giger's attending physician released Mr. Giger to full-time work with restrictions in October 1990. BR Berselli 18. Connie Stewart, the

¹ The certified appeal board record is cited as "BR" followed by the appropriate page number. Citations to the testimony of a witness will be cited to as "BR" followed by the name of the witness and the page number of the applicable transcript.

vocational counselor assigned to Mr. Giger's claim, testified that as of January 3, 1989, Mr. Giger was capable of obtaining and performing reasonably continuous gainful employment based on his transferable skills in management and in the field of corrections. BR Stewart 15-20. The Department granted Mr. Giger a permanent partial disability award equal to ten percent total bodily impairment and closed his claim on November 8, 1990. BR 68. The Department, therefore, found that Giger was able to work by concluding that he was only partially, not totally, disabled.

Mr. Giger appealed that decision to the Board, contending that he should be found to be *totally* and permanently disabled because of his industrial injury. However, the Board affirmed the Department's order. BR 68. Mr. Giger appealed the Board's decision to Clark County Superior Court. BR Giger 68. The jury found that the Department was correct to close his claim with an award for permanent partial disability to his lowback, and found that Mr. Giger was able to work at that time. BR 68. Mr. Giger did not appeal the jury's decision. BR Giger 68.

B. Mr. Giger Never Sought Employment After His Claim Was Closed

Mr. Giger admitted that he did not make any attempt to find another job after he stopped working for the Department of Corrections in 1988. BR Giger 59. Instead he and his wife took up traveling in RVs as a

hobby in the early 1990s. BR Giger 72. Their practice was to take the RV south every year for three or four months and live in Arizona. BR Giger 75-76. In about 2007, Mr. Giger and his wife moved from Vancouver, Washington to Leavenworth, Washington in order to be nearer to their children and grandchildren. BR Giger 76.

C. The Department Rejected Mr. Giger's Claim for Wage Replacement Benefits, and the Board, Superior Court, and Court of Appeals Agreed

Mr. Giger applied to reopen his claim in February 1994 because his injury-related conditions had worsened. BR 68. The Department reopened his claim and he received authorized medical treatment. BR 69. The Department closed the claim in June 2010, and Mr. Giger appealed that order, which is the source of the current appeal. BR 71. On appeal Mr. Giger sought temporary and total disability benefits (time-loss compensation) from 1994 through 2010, and total and then permanent disability benefits (a pension). BR 97.

The industrial appeals judge reversed the Department's June 2010 closing order, concluding that Mr. Giger was entitled to benefits because he was unable to obtain regular gainful employment due to his industrial injury. BR 73-74. The Department petitioned the three-member Board for review of this decision. BR 20-38. The Board reversed the proposed decision, concluding that Mr. Giger had voluntarily retired as a matter of

law, and therefore, he was not entitled to any additional disability benefits, because he withdrew himself from the work force and made no effort to return to it, despite having had the capacity to do so. BR 6-7.

Mr. Giger appealed from the Board's decision to Clark County Superior Court. The superior court granted the Department's motion for summary judgment, affirming the decision of the Board. CP 61-64. Mr. Giger is now deceased. CP 59-60. In January 2013, Mr. Giger's widow, Carolyn Giger was substituted as petitioner, and she appealed from the judgment of the superior court. CP 59-60.

The Court of Appeals affirmed, concluding that when Mr. Giger's claim was closed in 1990 with a permanent partial disability award, that this was a finding that he was capable of reasonable continuous gainful employment. Giger v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., No. 44508-5-II at 3. (Sept. 3, 2014) (hereinafter "slip op."). After the claim was closed, he did not attempt to reenter the work force. Because he did not do this, as a matter of law he was voluntarily retired when the claim was reopened and he was not entitled to wage replacement benefits. Slip op. at 5. Giger now seeks review.

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Giger presents no reason warranting Supreme Court review. The voluntary retirement issues involved here are well settled by case law. *See*

Kaiser Aluminum Chem. Corp. v. Overdorff, 57 Wn. App 291, 295, 788 P.2d 8 (1990); Weyerhaeuser Co. v. Farr, 70 Wn. App. 759, 765, 855 P.2d 711 (1993); Energy Nw. v. Hartje, 148 Wn. App. 454, 466, 199 P.3d 1043 (2009). The Legislature has decided that if a worker voluntarily leaves the work force, he or she may not receive wage replacement benefits. RCW 51.32.060 and .090. Giger seeks only a ruling that there were material issues of fact, but does not argue that there is any basis for review and does not contest that Farr, Overdorff, and Hartje state the correct rule of law. Pet. 11, 20. The Court of Appeals rejected the argument that there were any relevant material issues of fact, and since Giger has not articulated a reason under RAP 13.4 to review this case, this Court should decline review.

A. Giger States No Ground Under RAP 13.4(b) for Review and None Exists

The petition currently before the Court does not present valid grounds for review as required by RAP 13.4(b). Under RAP 13.4(b), a petition for discretionary review will be accepted only (1) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court, (2) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals, (3) if a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United

States is involved, or (4) if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. Giger does not argue that any of these provisions apply, and indeed none apply. This case involves a very particular factual situation to which the Court of Appeals applied established law to conclude that Giger had voluntarily retired from the work force. As such, review should be denied.

B. Consistent With Farr, Overdorff, and Hartje, the Court of Appeals Correctly Held That Giger Was Retired as a Matter of Law When He Was Found Able to Work, but Made No Effort To Return to the Work Force

Because there was a final and binding legal determination that Giger could work in 1990, and Giger acknowledged that he never sought employment after that date, the Court of Appeals correctly decided that he was voluntarily retired under *Overdorff*, *Farr*, and *Hartje* as a matter of law.

Under Farr, Overdorff, and Hartje, a worker who voluntarily retires is ineligible for further wage replacement benefits. See Overdorff, 57 Wn. App. at 296-97; Farr, 70 Wn. App. at 763; Hartje, 148 Wn. App. at 466. In Overdorff, the claimant took advantage of an early retirement program offered by his employer. Overdorff, 57 Wn. App. at 292 n.1. After that date, Overdorff made no further attempts at working, despite being physically capable of doing so. Id. at 296. Overdorff protested the

order closing his claim, contending that his condition had worsened at some point after he retired such that he had become unable to work. *Id.* The court concluded that the worker had voluntarily retired when he removed himself from the work force, and that he was ineligible for further wage replacement benefits. *Overdorff*, 57 Wn. App. at 295. Since Overdorff was capable of returning to work but chose not to, he had no expectation of wages.²

In Farr, the court concluded that the bar to receipt of temporary total disability benefits discussed in Overdorff applied to permanent total disability benefits as well. The claimant was working as a tree faller for Weyerhaeuser when he suffered an industrial injury. Farr, 70 Wn. App. at 760. Farr's claim closed in October of 1978 with a permanent partial disability award. Id. at 761. Farr took an early retirement and stopped working for Weyerhaeuser in 1980. See id. Farr neither worked nor looked for work at any time after his claim was closed. Id. at 766.

In 1985, Farr sought to reopen his workers' compensation claim.

Id. at 761. The Department reopened his claim and then later closed his

² In 1986, the Legislature amended RCW 51.32.060(6) and .090(8), to specifically preclude permanent and temporary total disability benefits to voluntarily retired workers. Laws of 1986, ch. 59, §3. RCW 51.32.090(10) states that benefits will not be paid "if the supervisor of industrial insurance determines that the worker is voluntarily retired and no longer attached to the workforce." But because the injury in Giger pre-dates these statutes, they do not apply. However, the analysis is the same under the statute or the case law. See Farr, 70 Wn. App. at 763.

claim with an additional award for permanent partial disability. *Id.* Farr appealed the Department order, arguing that he was entitled to pension benefits because he had become permanently totally disabled as a result of an aggravation of his condition following claim closure. *Id.* The *Farr* Court held that, under *Overdorff*, the worker had voluntarily retired as a matter of law, and that he was, therefore, ineligible for further wage replacement benefits, even assuming he had become unable to work as of the time that his claim was reopened. *Id.* at 765.

Because he was capable of working when Farr decided to leave the work force and not return, he had no expectation of wages and no right to benefits. Farr, like Mr. Giger, argued that his injury played a role in his decision to retire, and that, therefore, it could not be said that he had voluntarily retired. Farr, 70 Wn. App. at 765. However, the Farr Court rejected this argument, reasoning that the relevant issue is not whether Farr's injury played a role in his decision to stop working for Weyerhaeuser, but whether his injury caused him to remove himself from the general work force, and to cease engaging in any form of employment-related activity. Farr, 70 Wn. App. at 765-66. Therefore, res judicata established that Farr was capable of at least some form of gainful employment as of the date that his claim was closed. Farr, 70 Wn. App.

at 766. Mr. Giger is like Farr in that he left work able to work and did not attempt to re-enter the workforce.

In *Hartje*, the Court of Appeals adhered to the rule in *Overdorff* and *Farr*, holding that the worker's voluntary retirement before the reopening of her claim precluded her from being entitled to any further time-loss compensation as a matter of law. *Hartje*, 148 Wn. App. at 466-68. Hartje's injury occurred after RCW 51.32.090(8) was specifically amended to preclude time-loss benefits to voluntarily retired workers. *See id.* at 466. In *Hartje*, her claim for a work place injury was closed with an award for permanent partial disability for her back, with a finding that she was able to work as of June 1997. *Hartje*, 148 Wn. App. at 459.

The Department reopened Hartje's claim in 1999 and she sought wage replacement benefits. *Id.* at 460. The Court of Appeals held that she had voluntarily retired, based on the fact that it was res judicata that she could work as of the date her claim was closed in 1997, and on the fact that she had made no attempts to find work after 1997. *Farr*, 70 Wn. App. at 765-66. Like Mr. Giger, Hartje argued that she had not voluntarily retired, contending that she was not capable of employment as of the date her claim was closed. *Hartje*, 148 Wn. App. at 468. However, the *Hartje* Court concluded that res judicata precluded her from making this argument. *Id.* at 469.

Like the claimants in *Overdorff*, *Farr*, and *Hartje*, Mr. Giger removed himself from the work force and ceased all employment-related activity at a time when he was capable of obtaining and performing some form of gainful employment. Giger argues that it still remains a question of fact whether "[Mr. Giger] retir[ed] as a proximate cause of the industrial injury." Pet. at 11. But, as in *Farr* and *Hartje*, Mr. Giger's claim was closed through a binding order that effectively determined that he *was* capable of employment, and it is now res judicata that the injury did not preclude him from working. As in *Farr* and *Hartje*, Giger voluntarily removed himself from the work force, regardless of whether his condition subsequently worsened to the point that he became incapable of employment. *See Farr*, 70 Wn. App at 766; *Hartje*, 148 Wn. App. at 467. The Court of Appeals correctly applied these cases and no need exists to revisit that application of law to fact.

C. Giger's Arguments That a Material Issue of Fact Exists Have No Merit

1. Giger Is Ineligible for Benefits When He Withdrew From the Workforce and Did Not Return, Irrespective of Any Subsequent Worsening of His Condition

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